FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2015 AUG 28 PM 2: 49

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY CADEPUTY

Court of Appeals NO. 45756-3-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MIKE BELENSKI,

Petitioner,

v.

JEFFERSON COUNTY,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mike Belenski, Petitioner Pro Se P.O. Box 1132 Poulsbo, WA 98370 (360) 437-9808

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Plaintiff Mike Belenski ("Belenski") requests this Court to accept review of the decision terminating review by the Court of Appeals, Division II, designated in Part B of this petition.

B. DECISION BELOW

Belenski seeks review of a single portion of the published Court of Appeals decision, *Mike Belenski v. Jefferson County*, No. 45756-3-II, (May 19, 2015). In that decision, the Court of Appeals held that because more than two years had passed between the date Jefferson County ("County") responded to Belenski's Public Records Act¹ ("PRA") request (October 4, 2010) and the date the litigation was filed (November 19, 2012), that the two-year "catch-all" statute of limitations contained in RCW 4.16.130 barred his claim. (Opinion, 12-13). The Court made no ruling regarding the applicability of the statute of limitations in the PRA, RCW 42.56.550(6).

The Court's decision omitted key information brought to its attention. While the decision is accurate that the County responded by advising Belenski there were "no responsive records" for his request, the decision failed to contain the fact that Belenski later discovered that for 15 months (until about January 3, 2012) the County knowingly concealed records responsive to his request. (Opening Br. pg 24, CP 124-125, 138-140, 123, 129, 195-196).

¹ Codified as RCW 42.56

To allow the County to benefit from concealing or silently withholding records, which denied Belenski the opportunity to pursue judicial review pursuant to RCW 42.56.550(3), contradicts Supreme Court precedent and is contrary to the legislative mandates of the PRA.

A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages one to twenty-one. On June 8, 2015, Petitioner filed a timely motion for reconsideration. The Court issued an Order on June 23, 2015 requesting an Answer to the motion for reconsideration. (Appendix, page 22). The County answered on July 6, 2015. On July 31, 2015, the motion for reconsideration was denied without comment. (Appendix, page 23).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is RCW 42.56.550(6) is the applicable statute of limitation to be applied to the September 27, 2010 public records request for Internet Access Logs (IALs)?
- 2. If RCW 42.56.550(6) is not the applicable statute of limitations involving the September 27, 2010 request, should the "Discovery Rule" be applied to the accrual of the "catch all" statute of limitations, RCW 4.16.130?
- 3. Did the County conceal or silently withhold IALs responsive to the September 27, 2010 public records request?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The relevant facts of this case are straight forward. On September 27, 2010,

Belenski submitted a public records request to the County requesting inspection of

the Internet Access Logs² (IALs) from February 1, 2010 to September 27, 2010. This request clearly states it is a request for public records pursuant to the Public Records Act (PRA), RCW 42.56. (CP 211). In a letter dated October 4, 2010, from the County's Public Records Officer Lorna Delaney, Belenski was advised that the County had "no responsive records" to his request. (CP 214).

A follow up conversation involving the September 27, 2010 request occurred in the basement of the Jefferson County Courthouse on March 21, 2011, between Belenski and Jefferson County Deputy Prosecuting Attorney David Alvarez. During this conversation, DPA Alvarez advised Belenski that the reason he did not receive the IALs was because "we don't use them for anything so we don't have to keep them" (CP 194, 631).

Because Belenski had made previous public records requests for IALs, he was confused as to why the County had not provided the IALs he requested. (CP 120). Given the "no responsive records" answer provided by the County's Public Records Officer Lorna Delaney and the "we don't use them for anything so we don't have to keep them" statement by DPA Alvarez, Belenski thought the IALs were being intentionally destroyed. (CP 121). To provide support for a possible civil suit involving the destruction of public records, and so that the County could not claim it was an accident or oversight that he did not get the IALs pursuant to his September 27, 2010 request (CP 121), Belenski submitted a public records

² Internet Access Logs (IALs) contain a record of every single contact between a county issued personal computer ("PC") and the World Wide Web. (CP 17-18, 361)

request to the County on November 2, 2011, for the more recent time frame of January 1, 2011 to November 1, 2011. (CP 121, 231).

Jefferson County Information Services (IS) Manager David Shambley, in a letter attached to a December 9, 2011 email, advised Belenski that a catastrophic hard drive failure had occurred (CP 195, 233) and that "Good archive data prior to 11-10-2011 cannot be provided. Miscellaneous text files from sporadic dates can and will be provided" (CP 234).

On January 3, 2012, a little more than 3 weeks after receiving Mr. Shambley's December 9th email, Belenski, accompanied by a computer systems consultant, Tom Thiersch, met with Mr. Shambley and David Winegar, who is also an IS employee. As soon as Belenski entered the room where the discussions would be held to determine what would be included regarding his November 2, 2011, request for IALs, he asked Mr. Shambley why he had not received the IALs pursuant to his September 27, 2010 public records request and Mr. Shambley replied that "Chris Grant decided that you didn't have the software to look at them." Neither Chris Grant, an IS employee at the time of the request, or any other employee of Jefferson County contacted Belenski to determine what software he owned or had access to. Additionally, because he did not request the IALs in electronic form in his September 27, 2010, public records request, any question about what software might have been available to Belenski at that time was irrelevant to the County's ability to fulfill the request.

The County provided Belenski with a DVD on January 19, 2012 that did not contain any of the IALs that had been requested on September 27, 2010, or on November 2, 2011. This DVD only contained only a WebSpy "Analysis Report" that summarized IAL data for various days. (CP 196).

It is not possible for the WebSpy report to contain the summary information that it did unless the underlying data existed at the time the report was prepared; the County admits that the IALs were used to create the WebSpy summary report provided to Belenski on January 19, 2012. (CP 56, 62).

On March 12, 2012, Belenski advised the Board of County Commissioners that he had not received the IALs he requested, but was brushed off. (CP 124-125).

In an effort to locate Chris Grant, Belenski submitted a public records request dated August 30, 2012 in which he requested contact information and emails involving Chris Grant. (CP 248, 601). As a result of the records produced by the County involving this request, Belenski became aware of additional information (in the form of emails) that at least some of the IALs responsive to his September 27, 2010 did exist at the time he made his request, but Jefferson County had chosen to not disclose the existence of those IALs to him. (CP 125, 138-140). Specifically, only 1 day after Petitioner made his September 27, 2010 request for IALs, County Internet Technician Chris Grant wrote an email (CP 138) to County Deputy Prosecuting Attorney David Alvarez and County Public Records Officer Lorna Delaney which stated:

David.

We have Internet access logs, but they are not natively viewable. They must be pulled out of a database and generated in a human readable format by the firewall reporting system (Viewpoint). Since this is not something we normally do, do we need to generate this report specifically for him?

(CP 138, emphasis added).

As a result, both Deputy Prosecuting Attorney David Alvarez and County Public Records Officer Lorna Delaney were well aware that the County possessed records responsive to his September 27, 2010 request for IALs, but concealed the existence of these records from him.

Having received no IALs, no exemption (privilege) log, and no claim of exemption for the IALs requested on September 27, 2010, Belenski filed this litigation on November 19, 2012.

E. ARGUMENT

This Court should grant review for the following reasons:

Division II's decision conflicts with binding State Supreme Court precedent (RAP 13.4(b)(1)) and this Petition involves an issue of substantial public interest (RAP 13.4(b)(4)) that should be determined by the Supreme Court involving the application of RCW 42.56.550(6) and RCW 4.16.130.

The Supreme Court has repeatedly held that withholding records under the PRA is only valid when and if the agency makes a "claim of exemption" and provides a "privilege log" or "withholding index". *Rental Housing Association of Puget Sound v. City of Des Moines*, 165 Wn.2d 525, 537-540 (2009).

In the instant case, the County withheld records and never made a "claim of exemption", or provided a "privilege log" or "withholding index" for the IALs responsive to the September 27, 2010 public records request. See also, *PAWS v. UW*, 125 Wn.2d 243, 271 (1994); *PAWS v. UW* at 271 footnote 18.

The County chose to **silently withhold** records responsive to the September 27, 2010 request. This Court has defined the failure to disclose the existence of requested records as the **silent withholding** of records which is prohibited under the Public Records Act (PRA). ("An undisclosed record results in the prohibited silent withholding discussed in PAWS, 125 Wn.2d at 270") *Neighborhood*Alliance of Spokane County v. County of Spokane, 172 Wn.2d 702, Footnote 16, (2011).

Additionally, the ruling of the Court of Appeals in this case would render RCW 42.56.550(6) meaningless and would undermine the very purpose of the PRA; i.e. the broad access to public records. A plain reading of the PRA's one-year statute of limitations clearly indicates it is triggered by either of two occurrences: (1) the agency's claim of an exemption or (2) the agency's last production of a record on a partial or installment basis. (RCW 42.56.550(6)). (CP 167-169). The Court of Appeals stated "Belenski did not file his complaint until November 19, 2012, over two years after the County responded to request #13.". (Opinion, 13). Under RCW 42.56.550(6) it makes no difference, with regards to triggering this statute of limitations, when an agency like the County responds to a

³ Request #1 is the September 17, 2010 request for Internet Access Logs.

public records request. What matters is when a claim of exemption is made or when the last production of records is made. RCW 42.56.550(6) is rendered meaningless as long as more than two years have passed since the agency responded to the public records request, which could hardly be the intent of the legislature.

The reliance by the Court of Appeals on RCW 4.16.130, conflicts with the construction clause of the PRA (RCW 42.56.030) which states: "In the event of conflict between the provisions of this chapter and any other act, the provisions of this chapter shall govern." It also conflicts with this Court's decision in *O'Neill v*. *City of Shoreline*, 170 Wn.2d 138, 149 (2010) ("[W]hen there is the possibility of a conflict between the PRA and other acts, the PRA governs".) Therefore, RCW 42.56.550(6) should be the controlling statute of limitations, not RCW 4.16.130.

1. The Court of Appeals decision is contrary to this Court's ruling in Rental Housing Association of Puget Sound v. City of Des Moines, 165 Wn.2d 525 (2009)

The facts and circumstance involving Belenski's September 27, 2010 public records request for IALs fall squarely within *Rental Housing Association of Puget Sound v. City of Des Moines*, 165 Wn.2d 525 (2009).

This Court has overwhelmingly ruled that the RCW 42.56.550(6) one-year time limit will not shield agencies that don't make timely and sufficient efforts to advise records requestors what records are being withheld and why. In its decision, this Court answered the question of when the one-year statute of limitations clock starts to run (Id. at 535 to 540). The key issue is when a "claim of

exemption" under RCW 42.56.550(6) is effectively made. And it can't be effectively made, wrote Justice Stephens, when the agency is engaged in what the Court had earlier described in PAWS v. University of Washington, 125 Wn.2d 243, 270 (1994), as "silent withholding" by not adequately identifying the record(s) it is refusing to turn over and explaining why it is not disclosing the record(s). By law, she wrote, withholding records under the PRA is only valid when and if the agency provides a "privilege log" or "withholding index". Justice Stephens wrote (Rental Housing Authority at 540) that "Without the information a privilege log provides, a public citizen and a reviewing court cannot know (1) what individual records are being withheld, (2) which exemptions are being claimed for individual records, and (3) whether there is a valid basis for a claimed exemption for an individual record. Failure to provide the sort of identifying information a detailed privilege log contains defeats the very purpose of the PRA to achieve broad public access to agency records. ". (CP 168-169).

The *Rental Housing Authority* opinion and its analysis of the *PAWS* case make it clear that RCW 42.56.550(6) is the statute of limitations that controls in circumstances where records are concealed or silently withheld from a requestor, or where an agency has failed to make a claim of exemption for the records and provide a privilege log, which are exactly the circumstances involving the instant case.

In discussing statute of limitations, the Court in *Rental Housing Authority* found that "Undeniably, statutes of limitation serve a valuable purpose by

promoting certainty and finality, and protecting against stale claims." (citations omitted). "However, liberally construing the PRA to effectuate open government-as we must-does not defeat these goals. Certainty and finality are promoted by a construction of RCW 42.56.550(6) that reads "claim of exemption" consistent with other provisions of the PRA, particularly RCW 42.56.210(3), as well as our prior holdings and administrative regulations implementing the Act. " (citations omitted). (*Rental Housing Authority* at 540).

Therefore, liberally construing the PRA does not defeat the goals of statutes of limitation, and it is not until the County makes a claim of exemption and provides a privilege log for the IALs it is withholding or provides the IALs, that the statute of limitations found in RCW 42.56.550(6) will begin to run.

Nothing prevented the County from claiming an exemption and providing a privilege log for the IALs responsive to the September 27, 2010 request. Since it had been more than a year and a half prior, on January 22, 2009, that *Rental Housing Authority* was published, the mandates the County was required to follow were already established.

Lastly, the Court of Appeals applied the wrong statute of limitations regarding the September 27, 2010 request. The two-year "catch all" statute of limitations, RCW 4.16.130, states "An action for relief not hereinbefore provided for, shall be commenced within two years after the cause of action shall have accrued." Because "an action for relief" under the PRA is hereinbefore provided for in RCW 42.56.550(6) for concealed or silently withheld records, or the failure

to make a claim of exemption and provide a privilege log, RCW 4.16.130 is not an applicable statute of limitations involving the September 27, 2010 request. (CP 170-171).

2. The Court of Appeals strict application of RCW 4.16.130 is contrary to this Court's rulings involving the "Discovery Rule" and conflicts with the mandates of the PRA

The Court of Appeals ruled that because more than two years had passed between the date the County responded to the September 27, 2010 request for IALs and the date the litigation was filed, the two-year "catch-all" statute of limitations contained in RCW 4.16.130 barred this claim. (Opinion, 12-13).

However, while more than two years had passed between the date the County responded to the request (October 4, 2010) and the date the litigation was filed (November 19, 2012), statutes of limitations under Chapter 4.16 do not begin to run until a cause of action accrues. RCW 4.16.005 ("actions can only be commenced within the periods provided in this chapter after the cause of action has accrued."). See also, 1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs Corp. 158 Wn.2d 566, 575, (2006). Usually, a cause of action accrues when the party has the right to apply to a court for relief. In many instances, an action accrues immediately when the wrongful act occurs, but in circumstances where the plaintiff is unaware of the harm sustained, a "literal application of the statute of limitations" could "result in grave injustice." To avoid this injustice, courts have applied a discovery rule of accrual, under which the cause of action accrues when a plaintiff discovers, or in the reasonable exercise of diligence should discover, the elements

of the cause of action. This does not mean that the action accrues when the plaintiff learns that he or she has a legal cause of action; rather, the action accrues when the plaintiff discovers the salient facts underlying the elements of the cause of action. Id at 575-576. (citations omitted).

The County has the burden of proving a statute of limitations defense. Wallace v. Lewis County, 134 Wn. App. 1, 13 (2006) ("Whether the plaintiff has exercised due diligence under the discovery rule is a question of fact, which is the defendant's burden to prove." citing Mayer v. City of Seattle, 102 Wn. App. 66, 76 (2000) (defendant has burden of proving a statute of limitation defense)) and the County has provided no arguments, explanation or evidence as to how Belenski failed to exercise due diligence, or when he knew or should have known records were being silently withheld from him, or when he discovered or should have discovered salient facts underlying the elements of a cause of action. Therefore, the County has failed to prove a statute of limitations defense.

This Court stated in *US Oil v. Department of Ecology*, 96 Wn.2d 85, 93 (1981) "We have a duty to construe and apply limitation statutes in a manner that furthers justice." Allowing the County to conceal records from Belenski and then permitting the County to use the statue of limitations as a shield to his legitimate claims does not further justice. Without application of the Discovery Rule, agencies like Jefferson County can conceal or silently withhold records from requestors, and escape the consequences and remedial provisions of the PRA, as long as they can keep their illegal conduct a secret from the requestor for two

years. The Court of Appeals ruling that the statute of limitations begins to run with any agencies' response to a public records request, no matter how dishonest, deceitful or underhanded the agency is in concealing the existence of records, is contrary to the rulings of this Court, the mandates of the PRA, and any sense of justice.

The County lied to Belenski when it advised him that it had "no responsive records" to the September 27, 2010 request for IALs (CP 214), and the deception continued when DPA Alvarez told him the reason he did not get these IALs was because "we don't use them for anything so we don't have to keep them" (CP 194, 631) with DPA Alvarez knowing that the County did have IAL responsive to the request, because Internet Technician Chris Grant had sent him an email advising him of that fact (CP 138). Rather than advising Belenski that the County did have IALs responsive to his request, DPA Alvarez and the County continued to act in bad faith and with deception.

This Court has held that "Equitable tolling is permitted where there is evidence of bad faith, deception, or false assurances by the defendant and the exercise of diligence by the plaintiff." "In Washington equitable tolling is appropriate when consistent with both the purpose of the statute providing the cause of action and the purpose of the statute of limitations." *Millay v. Cam*, 135 Wn.2d 193, 206, (1998).

Due to the deception and silent withholding orchestrated by the County, and that Belenski could not immediately know of his injury, the Discovery Rule is applicable in this case. *In re Estates of Hibbard*, 118 Wn.2d 737, 749-750 (1992), ("Application of the rule is limited to claims in which the plaintiffs could not have immediately known of their injuries due to professional malpractice, occupational diseases, self-reporting or **concealment of information** by the defendant. Application of the rule is extended to claims in which plaintiffs could not immediately know of the cause of their injuries."). (emphasis added). (See also, *DOE v. Finch*, 133 Wn.2d 96, 101 (1997)),

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