RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Sep 30, 2015, 11:55 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 92161-0

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

Court of Appeals No. 45756-3-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MIKE BELENSKI,

Appellant

v.

JEFFERSON COUNTY,

Respondent,

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jeffrey S. Myers, WSBA No. 16390 Law, Lyman, Daniel, Kamerrer & Bogdanovich, P.S. P.O. Box 11880 Olympia, WA 98508-1880 (360) 754-3480

David Alvarez, WSBA No. 29194 Jefferson County Chief Civil Deputy Prosecuting Attorney P.O. Box 1220 Port Townsend, WA 98368 (360) 385-9219

Attorneys for Respondent Jefferson County



FILED AS ATTACHMENT TO EMAIL

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

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Belenski argues that this case involves a conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court and an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4 (b)(1) and (4).

A. PETITIONER BELENSKI FAILED TO PROPERLY RAISE AND ARGUE AGAINST APPLICATION OF THE TWO YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

The first reason that the Court should not accept review is because in the Court of Appeals below Belenski did not contest the applicability of or present briefing and argument that RCW 4.16.130 was inapplicable and did not control this case. Belenski in fact never raised or argued the two year statute of limitations at all, utterly failing to contest the argument presented by Jefferson County that his claim was barred under RCW 4.16.130. His appellate reply brief did not even mention RCW 4.16.130.

Instead, Petitioner waited until after the Court's decision relying on 4.16.130 to belatedly file a motion for reconsideration in which he asserted, for the first time, that the discovery rule should allow his case to proceed. Ordinarily this Court will not grant and consider arguments which were not raised in the party's briefs and which were not raised until motion for reconsideration is filed. See *1515-1519 Lakeview Boulevard Condominium Association v. Apartment Sales Corp.*, 146 Wn.2d 194, 203

n. 4, 43 P.3d 1233 (2002) (Issues not raised until a motion for reconsideration in the Court of Appeals "will not be considered for the first time on review in this Court"). Having failed to properly brief and argue before the Court of Appeals the issue now presented in the Petitioner for Review, this Court should likewise decline to consider a matter which was not fully and appropriately briefed below.

B. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH SUPREME COURT DECISIONS OR OTHER COURTS OF APPEAL.

1. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *Rental Housing Association v. City of Des Moines.*

Petitioner's primary argument is that the Court of Appeals decision is contrary to *Rental Housing Association v. City of Des Moines*, 165 Wn.2d 525, 199 P.3d 393 (2009). Petition for Review at 8. Petitioner strains to find a conflict where none exists.

In *Rental Housing*, the Court held that, in order to trigger RCW 42.56.550(6), the one-year PRA statute of limitations, an agency's exemption claim must describe each individual withheld record and explain the particular exemption that applied to each record. 165 Wash.2d at 539–40, 199 P.3d 393. The Court ruled that the City's response did not satisfy that requirement. Finding that the one year statute of limitations had not been triggered, the Supreme Court concluded that the trial court

incorrectly dismissed the matter under RCW 42.56.550(6). This case, however, does not involve a "claim of exemption", so *Rental Housing* does not apply.

Likewise, *Rental Housing* did not involve application of RCW 4.16.130 and the two year catch-all statute of limitations for claims not subject to the Public Records Act statute of limitation. See *Johnson v. State Dep't of Corr.*, 164 Wn.App. At 779. Additionally, *Rental Housing* did not involve a question of whether or not records were defined as public records or not. The statute in RCW 42.56.550(6) is limited to situations where there has been production of public records or claims of exemptions made by the agency.

Further, the Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with *Rental Housing* because the Court of Appeals did not decide or interpret RCW 42.56.550(6), which was at issue in *Rental Housing*. The Court of Appeals relied on a different statute of limitations, RCW 4.16.130, to find that a single claim in this matter was barred because the lawsuit was not filed for over two years from the date of the County's timely response. There is no conflict in applying a more generous two year statute of limitations where the stricter one year statute does not apply.

The essential facts underlying application of RCW 4.16.130 are not disputed. It is undisputed that Belenski made his public records

request on September 27, 2010. It is undisputed that, at that time, the plaintiff knew that internet access logs were being generated by the County. His claim therefore accrued on October 5, 2010 when he received the County's response stating that there were "no responsive records".³ *Hobbs v. State Auditor*, 183 Wn.App. 925, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014) (cause of action accrues upon final action to not provide responsive records).

Belenski's argument that the Court of Appeals failed to decide the proper statute of limitations ignores the fact that this result was invited by Belenski's failure to adequately brief that issue before the Court of Appeals issued its opinion. This is why courts do not allow new issues to be raised in reply briefs or motions for reconsideration. Belenski strains to find a conflict and a basis for the application of the discovery rule even though he did not make this argument in his briefing in the case in chief.

Belenski's actual argument is that there is no statute of limitations for him to bring his claim and that he can bring claims at any time if he simply alleges "silent withholding". However, he disregards the fact that he knew both that internet access logs were being created by the County and that he was not provided them in response to his public records

³ Belenski's silent withholding argument incorrectly assumes that the County is under a duty to log records not provided because they are not considered public records. There is no such duty. *Forbes v. City of Gold Bar*, 171 Wn.App. 857, 869, 288 P.3d 384 (2012).

request. That is all a plaintiff needs to know to challenge the County's response under the PRA.

Belenski fails to explain his twenty five month delay in bringing a lawsuit after being informed that the County did not have responsive public records. Further, he concedes that during this time period he knew that the County actually had internet access logs and contended that they were not public records. Given this actual knowledge the Court of Appeals correctly determined that he cannot wait for over two years to expire without filing his lawsuit.

2. The discovery rule further should not be imposed because the legislature has not chosen to impose it.

Belenski's position also has the dangerous effect of allowing sterile claims to be brought well after records retention periods have expired and after agencies no longer have the ability to respond. This is the very purpose of repose that RCW 4.16.130 serves. Belenski's position of inserting a discovery rule into the Public Records Act would in fact allow unlimited liability for public agencies and claims for damages. This was not the intent of the legislature when it imposed RCW 42.56.550(6) or RCW 4.16.130.

With respect to Belenski's attempt to re-write the statutes of limitation by inserting the "discovery" rule into to the law, a judicial

decision is not a proper method to achieve that result. The Supreme Court recognized the court's distinct role in our three-pronged governmental system in 2007 when Justice Fairhurst wrote:

> "It is neither our prerogative nor our function to substitute our judgment for the duly elected legislature's determination that the 2006 amendment was in the best interests of Washington State. Therefore, we are compelled to give the 2006 amendment its intended effect."

Washington State Farm Bureau Fed'n v. Gregoire, 162 Wn.2d 284, 302, (2007) (Legislature's plenary power to enact law included power to make law apply retroactively.)

Numerous statutes of limitation expressly include a "discovery" rule. They include RCW 4.16.080(6) (official misappropriation of funds), a subsection of a law entitled "Actions limited to three years," which included the "discovery" rule text at least as early as 1989 (1989 Session Laws, Ch. 38, §2) and RCW 4.16.340, entitled "Actions based on childhood sexual abuse," last updated in 1991 (1991 Session Law, Ch. 212, §2). *See, e.g., McLeod v. Northwest Alloys, Inc.*, 90 Wn. App. 30, 35, 969 P.2d 1066 (1998) (discussing the Uniform Trade Secrets Act); and RCW 4.16.350(3) (medical negligence).

The statutes listed here demonstrate that the Legislature in its exercise of its plenary powers chose not to include the "discovery" rule,

when RCW 42.56.550(6) was enacted and signed into law in 2005. See O'Neil v. Estate of Murtha, 89 Wn. App. 67, 73–74, 947 P.2d 1252 (1997).

It is especially important for the Legislature to address the discovery rule because such a rule would completely undermine any repose granted by a statute of limitations in PRA cases. It would allow a requester to sue without any limitation if a record was found many years later that was responsive to but omitted from the original response, claiming that the requester did not know of the existence of the responsive record and was misled by the alleged "silent withholding". This would be the result where the PRA request requires a broad search for records. Petitioner's proposed rule would extinguish any statute of limitation if the agency simply misses a record while responding to a request requiring it to search through tens of thousands for responsive documents.

3. Application of the discovery rule is not appropriate in PRA cases.

The discovery rule is not a rule of general applicability to all claims. The discovery rule reflects a policy decision to balance the "wrong[ness]" of bringing stale claims "against the unfairness of precluding justified causes of action." *1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs Corp.*, 158 Wn.2d 566, 579, 146 P.3d 423 (2006) (claim arising out of a contract accrued on breach and not on discovery); *see also U.S.*

Oil & Refining Co. v. State Dept. of Ecology, 96 Wn.2d 85, 93, 633 P.2d 1329 (1981); Gunnier v. Yakima Heart Ctr., Inc., P.S., 134 Wn.2d 854, 860, 953 P.2d 1162 (1998). Indeed, "The 'obvious' purpose of such statutes is to set a definite limitation on the time available to bring an action, without consideration of the merit of the underlying action." (citing Dodson v. Continental Can Co., 159 Wash. 589, 596, 294 P. 265 (1930)). Bartz v. State Dep't of Corr. Pub. Disclosure Unit, 173 Wn. App. 522, 538, 297 P.3d 737, 744 (2013) review denied sub nom. Bartz v. Dep't of Corr., 177 Wn. 2d 1024, 309 P.3d 504 (2013)

When not expressly incorporated into a statute, Washington courts have applied the discovery rule "only in limited circumstances in which the plaintiff lacked the means to ascertain that a wrong had been committed." *C.J.C. v. Corp. of Catholic Bishop of Yakima*, 138 Wn.2d 699, 749, 985 P.2d 1162 (1999) (Durham, J., dissenting). Specifically, Washington's common law discovery rule applies only to two categories of cases: (1) those where the defendant's fraudulent concealment prevented the plaintiff from discovering its injury; and (2) those where the "nature of the plaintiffs injury makes it difficult for the plaintiff to learn the factual elements giving rise to the cause of action within the limitations period.". *O'Neil v. Estate of Murtha*, 89 Wn. App. 67, 72, 947 P.2d 1252, 1255 (1997). This case falls into neither category.

Plaintiff's complaint and briefing did not allege fraudulent concealment. *See Crisman v. Crisman*, 85 Wn. App. 15, 21, 931 P.2d 163 *review denied*, 132 Wn.2d 1008, 940 P.2d 653 (1997). Likewise, a PRA case is not one which the nature of the plaintiff's injury makes it difficult to learn the elements of a cause of action. See, *Central Heat, Inc. v. Daily Olympian*, 74 Wn.2d 126, 433 P.2d 544 (1968). In PRA cases, the plaintiff is provided a response and knows whether the agency provided requested records or whether it did not. In this case, the plaintiff knew in October 2010 that he did not receive any requested records. In such cases, a requester must challenge the agency's assertion within the two year limitations period.

Plaintiff's position would eviscerate any statute of limitations in PRA cases where an agency fails to produce a record. It would eliminate the repose that is the "obvious purpose" of statutes of limitation. See *Bartz, supra.* Under Belenski's argument, the applicable limitations period would not begin to run until the requester learned that the agency had a specific responsive record and failed to provide it. This eliminates the repose that the statute of limitation was intended to provide to the agency, especially in cases where the agency is required to search through thousands of records and is unable to locate every responsive record. It would be a mandate on local governments to conduct the perfect search

rather than the reasonably diligent search case law now mandates.⁴ This scenario is becoming more commonplace after the adoption of amendments to RCW 42.56.080 in 2008 which preclude denial of a request on the basis that it is overly broad. A rule that allows unlimited lawsuits imperils the public fisc by creating unlimited penalty periods, contrary to the express intent of the Legislature in adopting RCW 42.56.550(6). Since the Legislature did not insert the "discovery" rule into RCW 42.56.550(6), this Court should not do so either.

Moreover, the discovery rule would severely prejudice agencies who rely on the passage of time in management of their records. Agencies would not know whether records requests are truly "resolved" or whether they could destroy records according to the retention schedules. RCW 42.56.100 precludes an agency from destroying a record, in compliance with the applicable retention schedule, until a public record request is "resolved." Without a statute of limitations, a public records request can never be "resolved." Likewise, it would prejudice agencies who have previously destroyed records pursuant to approved retention periods in cases where a reasonable search failed to detect a record, providing no

⁴ Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane County v. County of Spokane, 172 Wn.2d 702, 753, 261 P.3d 119 (2011).

limitation whatsoever. This result is contrary to the clear intent of the PRA to provide repose.

Statutes of limitations are strictly applied, and courts are reluctant to find an exception unless one is clearly articulated by the legislature. *See, e.g., Huff v. Roach*, 125 Wn. App. 724, 732, 106 P.3d 268 (2005); *Bennett v. Dalton*, 120 Wn. App. 74, 85-86, 84 P.2d 265 (2004); *Janicki Logging & Construction Co. v. Schwabe, Williamson & Wvatt*, 109 Wn. App. 655, 662, 37 P.3d 309 (2001). This is particularly true in cases governed by explicit statutory directives such as the PRA and not by the common law. *See Elliott v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.*, 151 Wn. App. 442, 447, 213 P.3d 44 (2009).

In *Elliott*, this Court declined to apply the discovery rule to a cause of action with a statute of limitations explicitly addressed by statute. This Court noted that the plaintiff was in the "wrong forum" for arguing that his claim should be permitted to proceed as the legislature had "clearly expressed its intent" by passing legislation governing the timeliness for filing the claim he attempted to file. *Elliott* at 446-47. In *Elliott*, as here, the appellant asserted that the act was "to be liberally construed" as a basis for his argument that the discovery rule should apply. This argument was rejected noting that "...it is fundamental that, when the intent of the legislature is clear from a reading of a statute, there is no room for

construction." Elliott, at 447-48, citing, Johnson v. Dep't of Labor and Indus., 33 Wn.2d 399, 402, 205 P.2d 896 (1949).

Belenski argues that the reliance on RCW 4.16.130 would render RCW 42.56.550(6) meaningless. Petition at 7. This premise is illogical and simply wrong. It also conflicts with his position that RCW 42.56.550(6) was not triggered and does not govern here. The Court's imposition of a two year general statute of limitations as an overall catchall when RCW 42.56.550 does not apply is fully consistent with established precedent and would not render it meaningless. Where agencies claim an exemption or provide records pursuant to an installment, RCW 42.56.550(6) governs. It limits those actions to one year. Otherwise the two year statute of limitations applies. There is no conflict and the shorter limitation period will apply by its own terms.

C. THE PETITION FOR REVIEW DOES NOT PRESENT AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC CONCERN.

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